Comparison of Crown Production over the Years in the Graduate Prosthodontics Clinic at the University of Pittsburgh School of Dental Medicine

by

Shahad Dashti

DDS

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the

School of Dental Medicine in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Dental Science

University of Pittsburgh

2022

UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

SCHOOL OF DENTAL MEDICINE

This thesis was presented

by

Shahad Dashti, DDS

It was defended on

August 2, 2022

and approved by

Alexandre R Vieira DDS MS PhD. Director of Clinical Research and Director of Student Research for the School of Dental Medicine.

Warren Stoffer, DMD, Assistant Professor, Department of Prosthodontics

Thomas Kunkel, DMD, Chair and Residency Program Director, Assistant Professor, Department

of Prosthodontics

Thesis Advisor: Alexandre R Vieira DDS MS PhD. Director of Clinical Research and Director of Student Research for the School of Dental Medicine.

Copyright © by Author's Shahad Dashti

2022

Comparison of Crown Production over the Years in the Graduate Prosthodontics Clinic at the University of Pittsburgh School of Dental Medicine Shahad Dashti, DDS

University of Pittsburgh, 2022

Abstract

Background: Dental materials have developed over the years. Dentists choose the crown materials for their patients depending on the amount of tooth structure available, esthetics, location of the tooth, and occlusion. Due to the advancement of dental materials, we hypothesize there is a shift in material of choice for crowns from metallic to more aesthetic options. Hence, metal free restorations are more likely to be used nowadays than metal restorations.

Objectives: The objective of this study was to evaluate the crown production in the Graduate Prosthodontics Clinic at the University Of Pittsburgh School Of Dental Medicine over the last few years to determine if there is a difference in material of choice. The null hypothesis of this study was that there is no difference in crown production over recent years.

Search methods: Data were collected from the electronic health records (Axium) from two residents with high productivity to decrease inter-professional variability. One resident worked from 2016 to 2018, and the other one worked from 2014 to 2016. Codes related to crowns included: all metal (D2790, D2792, D6210), porcelain-fused-to-metal (D2750, D2752, D6240, D6242, D6750, D6752), and all ceramic (D2740, D6245, D6740).

Results: The present analysis provides useful new data that there is an increase in zirconia crown production in the Graduate Prosthodontics Clinic at the University Of Pittsburgh School Of Dental Medicine in recent years.

Conclusion: There is a trend toward using all ceramic crowns and FPDs in the graduate prosthodontic clinic at the University of Pittsburgh School of dental medicine.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgement vii
1.0 Introduction1
2.0 Chapter 1
2.1 REVIEW OF LITERATURE
2.1.1 Porcelain-fused-to-metal (PFM) crowns3
2.1.2 Zirconia crowns6
2.1.3 Marginal fit9
2.1.4 Shear bond Strength10
3.0 Research Objective12
3.1 Research hypothesis12
4.0 Chapter 2
4.1 Search:
4.1.1 Statistical analysis:13
5.0 Chapter 314
5.1 Results14
6.0 Chapter 4
6.1 Discussion16
7.0 Chapter 5
7.1 Conclusion
8.0 Appendix19
Bibliography20

List of Tables

Table 1 Frequency of codes found.	14
Table 2. Comparing codes for single crowns and fixed partial denture codes for zin	conia and
PFM for resident R2016 and R2018	15

Acknowledgement

I wish to express my sincere gratitude to my thesis advisor Dr. Alexandre R Vieira for his guidance and mentorship. I would also like to thank Dr. Warren Stoffer, Dr. Thomas Kunkel, for their time and recommendations throughout this project.

1.0 Introduction

The goal of dental restoration is to reintegrate function and esthetics for patients with as little damage as possible to dentition and sustain long-term durability and strength. With new technologies in dentistry and ongoing advancement in materials used, excellent results are being achieved. The choice of materials and systems depend on many factors and the individual need and desires of the patient. As a result of continuous research, more materials are used in dentistry than almost any other industry. Some of the materials that dentists use are plastics, metals, ceramics, and more. In today's world, aesthetic demands have increased, which motivated the dental industry to increase aesthetic and mechanical properties of restorative materials. Fixed prosthodontic treatments, which include crowns, fixed partial denture, and complete arch prostheses, involve the use of several types of materials to protect and replace missing tooth structure.

Full metal crowns and porcelain-fused- to metal crowns have been commonly used for several years, and extensive studies of their use have been conducted. The studies have shown a 94% success rate over ten years. Chipping of the veneer or fracture of the metal frame is uncommon (26). The major disadvantage of porcelain-fused metal crown is they result in low esthetic qualities (26). With extensive study and use of ceramic-metal crowns, the attitude has developed with some scholars that to further advance dental porcelains, new composition materials and techniques will be required (7). Unsurprisingly, new materials and methods have been developed that offer new and improved options for dental restorations. For example, metal free restorations have become available, which allow practitioners to produce more natural restorations that meet patient's aesthetic expectations. In addition, with increasing costs of noble metals, all-

ceramic crowns are becoming more popular. By 2008, it was predicted that over half of all crowns would be made from all-ceramic materials (4). Indeed, all-ceramic restoration materials have become an established alternative to all-metallic or ceramic-metal materials (27). Nevertheless, it took some time before all-ceramic materials became a common choice. This is due to the issue of low mechanical stability, and as a result, all-ceramic restorations were limited to anterior regions and single unit fixed prostheses. However, improvements to ceramic materials have increased their mechanical stability, while still promoting esthetic value (27). The new materials, leucite/lithium-disilicate glass ceramics and oxide ceramics such as alumina and zirconia, are very promising as seen in recent research (27). With some of these new materials, dentists can now use ceramics at posterior sites and even with multiple-unit fixed prostheses (27).

The advancements in today's materials have had a significant impact on materials of choice, specifically with patients that require esthetics. Dentists began to prefer non-metallic alternative materials due to the excessive cost of metal-based crowns, among other factors (3, 4, 26). Yet, separate from issues related to material decisions like tooth location, esthetics, patient desires, masticatory factors, and patient finances, is that with more and more options, decisions for restoration materials may also be associated with individual dental practices and characteristics. Consequently, decisions made may be unrelated to patient variables, which is something dentists need to recognize when choosing dental material (26).

To understand trends and practices in restoration, the goal of this study is to determine if there has been a shift in the material of crown production over recent years in the Graduate Prosthodontics Clinic at the University of Pittsburgh School of Dental Medicine.

2.0 Chapter 1

2.1 REVIEW OF LITERATURE

2.1.1 Porcelain-fused-to-metal (PFM) crowns

For more than 50 years, porcelain-fused-to-metal restorations have been the most used for crown and bridge material. The downside of using this material is ceramic chipping, gingival display of metal when gingival tissue recedes, and faulty color, which make them appear unnatural (1). In 2019, Glidewell laboratories reported that PFM crown production had decreased dramatically, to as low as 9 percent, compared to zirconia crowns, which comprised 75 percent of their production (2). From a cost perspective, precious metal is expensive and requires a great lab technician that can manage it. With precious metals being expensive, all ceramic crowns are being used more in dental industry due to excessive cost (4). Nevertheless, even though all-ceramic options have become more common, metal crowns are still a common choice due to excellence of strength and biocompatibility. Still, with high costs of noble metals and more demand for esthetics, the choice of full metal restorations has significantly decreased (26). Plus, for PFM crown to be esthetically acceptable, certain measurements are needed for reduction to mask the metal substructure. To mask the metal, more tooth reduction is required to achieve the desired esthetic results, or the crown will be thicker (5). Consequently, the clinician must accomplish different measurements to achieve good esthetic results which include marginal design and significant reduction of tooth structure (4).

To provide good physical properties and long-term durability for dental restoration, there are challenges to be met, no matter what the choice of materials may be, whether all-metal, metal ceramic or all ceramic materials are used. The preparation for any restoration is extensive, and can be even more intensive depending on materials. For example, to produce the metal-ceramic crown, a cast metal crown is veneered with a layer of porcelain to appear as a natural tooth (28). The natural tooth must be significantly reduced to make room for the restorative materials. Commonly, a 1.5 mm reduction is done that leaves more than 25% of teeth with a very small margin of peripulpal dentin (<0.5 mm) which leaves almost no room for error when preparing a tooth. In addition, too much pulp exposure can lead to a loss of vitality, which can cause early failure (28). Nevertheless, despite the challenges, PFM crowns are still widely used for full coverage restorations in the anterior and posterior aspect of the dentition.

Porcelain-metal restorations have an advantage of strength, but they have low esthetic appeal. Still, with improvements, good physical properties have been achieved with adequate bond strength between the metal and the porcelain which is why PFM crowns are widely used for full coverage restorations in the anterior and posterior aspect of the dentition. The chemical bonding between the porcelain veneer and the metal plays a significant role in the stability of the material to withstand functional loading (5). To overcome the challenge of fracture, it is necessary that the porcelain veneer does not exceed 2 mm in thickness, but at the same time, the minimal thickness of the porcelain should be not thinner than 1 mm to mask the metal substructure (5).

Obviously, PFM crowns have their limitations, so all-ceramic crowns have become an alternative. Nevertheless, simply inserting an all-ceramic restoration crown into a patient offers no guarantee of an esthetic or stable outcome (4). Just as with metal-ceramic crowns, there are many specific details required to prepare for a successful all-ceramic restoration. First, endodontic

assessment should be completed before preparing the tooth to determine pulpal health and whether it is advisable to proceed with a restoration crown (4). Next, proper preparation of the tooth with adequate reduction to provide enough room for the crown, along with sufficient contouring, are all essential to create a restoration with excellent esthetics (4). Creating enough access via reduction for PFM materials can be quite difficult, which has been shown to result in a serious defect (4). Margins need to be deep into the sulcus, but if too deep, minor gingival recession will expose them and potentially violate the necessary width which can cause chronic inflammation (4). Dr. Terence Donovan (2008) argues that PFM crowns require aggressive preparations, which could result in a biological price paid for the sake of better esthetics (4).

2.1.2 Zirconia crowns

One of the advantages of using an all-ceramic crown is the preservation of the tooth with less tooth removed during reduction as is needed for metal-ceramic crowns. Usually, 0.3 to 0.5 mm is adequate to obtain full coverage restoration for an all-ceramic crown. Despite the high esthetic results of all ceramic crowns, there are limitations to their use, including brittleness which makes them easy to fracture. The challenge comes in the stage of fabrication during processing and includes voids during sintering (7). To reduce the potential of fracture, advancement in materials used have developed. For example, monolithic zirconia and lithium disilicates have been introduced that exhibit not only more strength with less fractures (5), but also higher esthetics (19). Consequently, all-zirconia crowns have gained popularity due to their high strength, durability and wearability, along with low cost.

Zirconia is a computer-aided design/computer aided manufacturing (CAD/CAM) bilayer restoration with excellent mechanical characteristics, including high flexural strength (700 - 1,200 MPa), fracture toughness (7 - 10 MPa·m1/2), hardness, translucency, chemical stability, biocompatibility, and desirable appearance (19). The zirconia is coated with a feldspathic ceramic veneer which optimizes the esthetic results of color and translucence (19). A final contour wax is applied to the core, which is eliminated when heated. Then the ceramic is heat-pressed onto the core. This layering provides both accuracy and stability (19).

The use of CAD/CAM systems has many advantages. They include higher quality and more uniform restorations, more standardization, and reduced costs in production time (9). There are some disadvantages as well. The scanning process does not have very high resolution, and edges can become rounded. The system also uses a software algorithm to create a smooth,

unbroken surface, but this can lead to some inaccuracies which can cause problems in the margins of the incisal or occlusal edges (9).

Zirconia also has a tooth-like appearance that mimics the natural optical properties of teeth. There are many reasons why so many practices are leaning towards metal free restorations due to high esthetics results. In addition, the high rise in metal cost is certainly a highly motivating factor (6). Yet, some dentists may not choose all-zirconia because they fear there will be degradation of strength over time (26).

Uncertainty about long-term durability of Zirconia-based technology in dental restoration is understandable considering the technology is still in its infancy. Still, when zirconia is layered with a translucent ceramic like porcelain, it is a distinctive esthetic choice. So, in spite of uncertainty, the development of zirconia crowns has increased over the years due to their aesthetic capability, biocompatibility, and wear resistance. Although zirconia crowns have not been as extensively tested as porcelain-metal crowns, the testing that has been completed shows that the fracture strength of a PFM crown that has 1.5 mm reduction is similar to zirconia crowns with only 1mm reduction. Some dentists believe the zirconia crowns should be used to preserve more of the tooth (26).

Much more needs to be understood about how zirconia crowns compare to other ceramicfused metal technologies (4). What is known is the core of the zirconia are excellent, and they also possess "transformation toughening" (4). The term refers to development of defects from the transformation of the tetragonal form to the monoclinic form. Clinical trials indicate there will be a high success rate with the physical aspects of zirconia crowns (4).

The zirconia substructure typically has a flexural strength of 1200 MPa, which is comparable to conventional porcelain fused to metal crowns. The ceramic-zirconia crown has

tested with higher fracture toughness and flexural strength of zirconia are significantly higher than of alumina or any other all-ceramic materials (29). With porcelain layering, no metal is visible and have excellent biocompatibility. The crowns are easy to adjust with a green stone or a diamond bur.

With the advanced technology of CAD/CAM scanners, clinicians can provide final restorations with same day delivery to patients. Digital scans for final crowns can provide similar quality of outcomes as conventional impressions, which makes it easier for the clinicians (8, 19).

2.1.3 Marginal fit

PFM crowns remain a popular choice for fabricating crowns and bridges due to their high strength properties and superior fit of casting. On the other hand, with the development of computer-aided design (CAD) and computer-aided manufacturing (CAM) the trend has changed to zirconia for full coverage restorations. The CAD/CAM system led to an increase in crown production, increased crown quality, and reduced time in the chair (9,10). There are many studies that evaluated marginal fit and internal gap between zirconia and conventional PFM crowns. Some studies supported that zirconia crowns have better marginal fit and internal adaptation and some reported the opposite. These controversial results are due to different methods used to measure the difference in fit and internal adaptation. A recent study by Paul et al. (2020) revealed the lack of standardization in marginal fit measures, especially with gap measurements (9). Additionally, other factors need to be considered when evaluating fit, including cementation. Paul et al. used the impression technique, which is one of the basic methodologies to check the internal and marginal fit. Like several other studies that used this technique, Paul et al. found that zirconia crowns have better marginal and internal adaptation than conventional PFM crowns (9,11,12,13).

2.1.4 Shear bond Strength

Shear bond strength is one of the most researched topics regarding PFM crowns. Most studies approve of the high shearing strength of PFM full coverage restorations (14,15,16). Recently, with the increased demand for esthetics, more research has been introduced to test the shearing strength of zirconia. The results have been disappointing.

Although Zirconia is a durable material, a lot of complications are seen with FPD (fixed partial dentures) such as chipping off of the veneered porcelain which is believed to be due to the relatively low coefficient of thermal expansion and thermal diffusivity of zirconia compared to traditional metal which has manifested as veneer chipping and delamination (6,7,8) over time (9, 27). The fracture rate of the veneering ceramic ranges from 8 to 50 percent at one and two years (4), while fracture veneer with metal-ceramic is between 4 and 10 percent after 10 years (4) Nevertheless, the exact reason for veneer chipping seen in zirconia restorations is still not well understood (19). There are a variety of possible causes, including defects in the veneer, mistakes in cooling rates, weak chemical bonding of the core and the veneer, and traumatic occlusion (4, 15,17,19) due to a chemical bond gap between the veneered material and the zirconia (4, 15,17). Another factor that can affect the bond strength is surface treatment. Examples such as airborne abrasion, application of line, sandblasting with aluminum oxide will enhance the bond strength (18,19,20). Another cause could be the lack of uniform support of the ceramic by the core. It is well known that with metal-ceramic restorations, the core needs to have uniform thickness, with no more than 2 mm of unsupported porcelain (4).

Because zirconia has many valuable qualities, more research is being conducted to test the use of different materials to overcome the problems with zirconia crowns such as Fluorapatite ceramics used over zirconia frameworks and Leucite containing ceramics for veneering a zirconia framework (19). Both have shown improved bonding and fracture resistance (19).

Obviously, the type of materials used in restoration are essential to desirable outcomes; however, other factors have to be considered as well. Tooth preparation is critical to success, as well as close attention to cervical margin design, management of soft tissues and precise impression techniques (4). Matching high-quality dental methods with high-quality materials will have higher levels of success in the long-term. The only way to be sure of the long-term quality of materials will require extensive testing and studies so dentists can be sure of which options are best for each of their patients.

3.0 Research Objective

The goal of this study is to determine the material of choice in recent years in the Graduate Prosthodontics Clinic at the University of Pittsburgh School of Dental Medicine. Recent studies have shown different material of choice depending on years of experience, type of practice, lab technician expertise, etc. (22,23).

3.1 Research hypothesis

Zirconia crowns as a treatment of choice will not have increased in recent years, compared to PFM crowns, in the Graduate Prosthodontics Clinic at the University Of Pittsburgh School Of Dental Medicine.

4.0 Chapter 2

4.1 Search methods:

4.1.1 Statistical analysis:

Axium was used to extract data for two different residents who worked over different years at the Graduate Prosthodontics Clinic at the University Of Pittsburgh School Of Dental Medicine. The residents were chosen due to their high productivity in there graduate year. The protocol of this study is approved by the University of Pittsburgh Institutional Review Board and the IRB.

The codes that were used include: full metal crowns [D2790, D2792, D6210], PFM crowns [D6240, D6242, D6750, D6752, D2750, D2752], and Zirconia crowns [D6750, D2740, D6245] were searched. Pivot charts were used to collect data. Chi-square test with an alpha of 0.05 were used to test whether sets of frequencies of crowns produced follow certain patterns.

5.0 Chapter 3

5.1 Results

	Count of Code	Column Labels			
Material	Row Labels	R 2016	R 2018	Grand Total	P Value
	D2740	30	51	81	0.002
Zirconia	D2740X	1		1	
	D6245	9	23	32	
	D6740	6	22	28	
	D2790	1	3	4	
All metal	D2792	1		1	0.27
	D6210		5	5	
	D6240	17	29	46	
	D6242	18	27	45	
	D2750	30	70	100	
	D2752	34	40	74	
PFM	D6750	24	54	78	1
	D6752	27	41	68	
	Grand Total	198	365	563	

- - -

Table 1 Frequency of codes found.

~ -

Table 1 shows the results for crown production for two different residents who graduate in 2016 and 2018, respectively. The Resident who graduated in 2016 performed a total of 150 PFM crowns, 46 Zirconia crowns, and 4 full metal crowns in 3 years of residency, for a total of 198 crowns. Chi-square test was used to get P value.

The Resident who graduated in 2018 performed a total of 261 PFM crowns, 96 zirconia crowns, and 8 full metal crowns for a total of 365 crowns in 3 years.

When comparing PFM crowns production between the different years R2016 with total of 150 crowns, and R2018 with total of 261 crowns with P value of 1 using Chi-square test. The present results show that the PFM crown production by the graduate prosthodontic clinic is still the same.

For zirconia production R2016 had a total of 46 crowns and R2018 had total of 96 crowns with P value 0.002. The results show that there has been an increase in production of zirconia crowns in recent years.

For all metal crown date, R2016 had total of 2 crowns and R2018 had total of 8 crowns with P value 0.27. The results are not significant.

Table 2. Comparing codes for single crowns and fixed partial denture codes for zirconia and PFM for residentR2016 and R2018.

	Codes description	Count of Code	Column Labels			
Material	uesemption	Row Labels	R 2016	R 2018	Grand Total	P Value
	Single crown	D2740	30	51	81	0.745
Zirconia	FPD	D6245	9	23	32	0.044
		D6740	6	22	28	
	C ¹	D2750	20	70	100	1
	Single crown	D2750 D2752	30 34	70 40	100 74	1
	FPD	D2752 D6240	34 17	40 29	74 46	0.83
		D6242	18	27	45	
PFM		D6750	24	54	78	
		D6752	27	41	68	
		Grand Total	196	357	553	

Table 2 shows the individual P value for single crown codes versus fixed partial dentures of the two materials PFM and zirconia. In the present data it shows that there has been an increase in zirconia fixed partial dentures in recent years.

6.0 Chapter 4

6.1 Discussion

The present analysis provides useful new data that there is an increase in zirconia crown production in the Graduate Prosthodontics Clinic at the University of Pittsburgh School of Dental Medicine in recent years. Since the p-value for comparing zirconia crowns in different years is less than 0.05, we rejected the null hypothesis that there were no differences in production over time at the department. Studies show that zirconia crowns are being used more often in recent years due to their improved physical properties and esthetics (5,6).

Patients are more aware of dentistry these days due to advertising and social media. Patients are much more engaged in their treatment planning and the choices they make for their oral health. The greater the knowledge the patients have the more questions they will ask about material of choice and esthetics. Most of the patients are looking for metal free restorations. Dentists should provide patients with the best treatment that provides durability and aesthetics. Metal free restorations such as zirconia have great advantages such as: chromatic stability, biocompatibility, low plaque retention, low thermal conductivity, esthetic appearance, and wear resistance. On the other hand, some of the limitations of early dental ceramics include brittleness, low tensile strength and fracture toughness, ease of crack propagation and difficulty of repair (24).

The study showed that there is no significant difference in PFM crown production in different years. PFM crowns remain the gold standard in prosthetic dentistry due to their great

mechanical properties, perfect marginal fit and adaptation. Dentists should make the final judgment of which material of choice is more suitable for the patient.

The study presented that zirconia is used more now for bridges than previous years. In many reported studies, after three years of clinical service, zirconia FPDs have exceptionally good clinical outcomes with failure rates between 0% and 4.8% (25).

7.0 Chapter 5

7.1 Conclusion

- There is a trend toward using zirconia crowns and FPDs in the graduate Prosthodontics clinic at the University of Pittsburgh School of Dental Medicine.
- There has been a shift in the material of crown production over recent years in the Graduate Prosthodontics Clinic at the University of Pittsburgh School of Dental Medicine.

8.0 Appendix



EXEMPT DETERMINATION

Date:	July 12, 2021
IRB:	STUDY21070015
PI:	Alexandre Vieira
Title:	Comparison of Crown Production Over the Years at the School of Dental Medicine
Funding:	None

The Institutional Review Board reviewed and determined the above referenced study meets the regulatory requirements for exempt research under 45 CFR 46.104.

Determination Documentation

Determination	7/12/2021
Date:	
Exempt Category:	(4) Secondary research on data or specimens (no consent required)
Determinations:	Waiver of HIPAA authorization
Approved	form, Category: IRB Protocol;
Documents:	

If you have any questions, please contact the University of Pittsburgh IRB Coordinator, Ali Arak.

Please take a moment to complete our Satisfaction Survey as we appreciate your feedback.

Bibliography

- Christensen, Gordon J. "Porcelain-Fused-to-Metal Versus Zirconia-Based Ceramic Restorations, 2009." The Journal of the American Dental Association, vol. 140, no. 8, 2009, pp. 1036–39. Crossref, https://doi.org/10.14219/jada.archive.2009.0316.
- (2) Leeson, David. "The Digital Factory in Both the Modern Dental Lab and Clinic." Dental Materials, vol. 36, no. 1, 2020, pp. 43–52. Crossref, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2019.10.010.
- (3) Sailer, Irena, et al. "A Systematic Review of the Survival and Complication Rates of All-Ceramic and Metal-Ceramic Reconstructions after an Observation Period of at Least 3 Years. Part II: Fixed Dental Prostheses." Clinical Oral Implants Research, vol. 18, 2007, pp. 86–96. Crossref, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0501.2007.01468.x.
- (4) Donovan, Terence E. "Factors Essential for Successful All-Ceramic Restorations." The Journal of the American Dental Association, vol. 139, 2008, pp. S14–18. Crossref, https://doi.org/10.14219/jada.archive.2008.0360.
- (5) Msd, Rosenstiel Stephen Bds, et al. Contemporary Fixed Prosthodontics Elsevier eBook on Intel Education Study (Retail Access Card). 5th ed., Mosby, 2015.
- (6) Sailer, Irena, Nikolay Alexandrovich Makarov, et al. "All-Ceramic or Metal-Ceramic Tooth-Supported Fixed Dental Prostheses (FDPs)? A Systematic Review of the Survival and Complication Rates. Part I: Single Crowns (SCs)." Dental Materials, vol. 31, no. 6, 2015, pp. 603–23. Crossref, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2015.02.011.
- (7) JONES, DEREK W., and H. J. WILSON. "Some Properties of Dental Ceramics." Journal of Oral Rehabilitation, vol. 2, no. 4, 1975, pp. 379–96. Crossref, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2842.1975.tb01538.x.

- (8) Pan, Shaoxia, et al. "Time Efficiency and Quality of Outcomes in a Model-free Digital Workflow Using Digital Impression Immediately after Implant Placement: A Double-blind Self-controlled Clinical Trial." Clinical Oral Implants Research, vol. 30, no. 7, 2019, pp. 617–26. Crossref, https://doi.org/10.1111/clr.13447.
- (9) Paul, N., et al. "Marginal and Internal Fit Evaluation of Conventional Metal-Ceramic versus Zirconia CAD/CAM Crowns." Journal of Clinical and Experimental Dentistry, 2020, pp. e31–37. Crossref, https://doi.org/10.4317/jced.55946.
- (10) Pjetursson, Bjarni E., et al. "A Systematic Review of the Survival and Complication Rates of All-Ceramic and Metal-Ceramic Reconstructions after an Observation Period of at Least 3 Years. Part I: Single Crowns." Clinical Oral Implants Research, vol. 18, 2007, pp. 73–85. Crossref, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0501.2007.01467.x.
- (11) Dahl, Bjørn Einar, et al. "Internal Fit of Single Crowns Produced by CAD-CAM and Lost-Wax Metal Casting Technique Assessed by the Triple-Scan Protocol." The Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry, vol. 117, no. 3, 2017, pp. 400–04. Crossref, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prosdent.2016.06.017.
- (12) Tamac, Ece, et al. "Clinical Marginal and Internal Adaptation of CAD/CAM Milling, Laser Sintering, and Cast Metal Ceramic Crowns." The Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry, vol. 112, no. 4, 2014, pp. 909–13. Crossref, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prosdent.2013.12.020.
- (13) Azarbal, Atousa, et al. "Marginal Fit Comparison of CAD/CAM Crowns Milled from Two Different Materials." Journal of Prosthodontics, vol. 27, no. 5, 2017, pp. 421–28. Crossref, https://doi.org/10.1111/jopr.12683.
- (14) Sreekala, Laju, et al. "Comparative Evaluation of Shear Bond Strengths of Veneering Porcelain to Base Metal Alloy and Zirconia Substructures before and after Aging - Anin VitroStudy." Journal of International Society of Preventive and Community Dentistry, vol. 0, no. 0, 2015, p. 0. Crossref, https://doi.org/10.4103/2231-0762.171590.
- (15) AL-AMLEH, B., et al. "Clinical Trials in Zirconia: A Systematic Review." Journal of Oral Rehabilitation, 2010. Crossref, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2842.2010.02094.x.

- (16) Peláez, Jesus, et al. "A Prospective Evaluation of Zirconia Posterior Fixed Dental Prostheses: Three-Year Clinical Results." The Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry, vol. 107, no. 6, 2012, pp. 373–79. Crossref, https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-3913(12)60094-8.
- (17) Sailer I, Feher A, Filser F, et al. Prospective clinical study of zirconia posterior fixed partial dentures: 3-year follow-up. Quintessence Int. 2006;37:685-693
- (18) DENRY, I., and J. KELLY. "State of the Art of Zirconia for Dental Applications." Dental Materials, vol. 24, no. 3, 2008, pp. 299–307. Crossref, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2007.05.007.
- (19) Turk, Ayse Gozde, et al. "Effect of Different Veneering Techniques on the Fracture Strength of Metal and Zirconia Frameworks." The Journal of Advanced Prosthodontics, vol. 7, no. 6, 2015, p. 454. Crossref, https://doi.org/10.4047/jap.2015.7.6.454.
- (20) Mosharraf, Ramin, et al. "Influence of Surface Modification Techniques on Shear Bond Strength between Different Zirconia Cores and Veneering Ceramics." The Journal of Advanced Prosthodontics, vol. 3, no. 4, 2011, p. 221. Crossref, https://doi.org/10.4047/jap.2011.3.4.221.

(21) Christensen. "Porcelain-Fused-to-Metal Versus Zirconia-Based Ceramic Restorations, 2009." The Journal of the American Dental Association, vol. 140, no. 8, 2009, pp. 1036–39. Crossref, https://doi.org/10.14219/jada.archive.2009.0316.

- (22)Mühlemann, Sven, et al. "Prosthetic Outcomes and Clinical Performance of CAD-CAM Monolithic Zirconia versus Porcelain-fused-to-metal Implant Crowns in the Molar Region: 1-year Results of a RCT." Clinical Oral Implants Research, vol. 31, no. 9, 2020, pp. 856– 64. Crossref, https://doi.org/10.1111/clr.13631.
- (23) Zarone, Fernando, et al. "From Porcelain-Fused-to-Metal to Zirconia: Clinical and Experimental Considerations." Dental Materials, vol. 27, no. 1, 2011, pp. 83–96. Crossref, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2010.10.024.

- (24) Beuer, Florian, et al. "Three-Year Clinical Prospective Evaluation of Zirconia-Based Posterior Fixed Dental Prostheses (FDPs)." Clinical Oral Investigations, vol. 13, no. 4, 2009, pp. 445–51. Crossref, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00784-009-0249-5.
- (25) Zembic, Anja, et al. "Randomized-Controlled Clinical Trial of Customized Zirconia and Titanium Implant Abutments for Single-Tooth Implants in Canine and Posterior Regions: 3-Year Results." Clinical Oral Implants Research, vol. 20, no. 8, 2009, pp. 802–08. Crossref, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0501.2009.01717.x</u>.
- (26) Makhija, Sonia K., et al. 'Dentist Material Selection for Single-Unit Crowns: Findings from The National Dental Practice-Based Research Network." Journal of Dentistry. 55: 40–47. December 1, 2017. doi:10.1016/j.jdent.2016.09.010.
- (27) Ayda L, Imen K, Mounir C, Dalenda H, Hassen H. All-Ceramic versus Metal-Ceramic Tooth Supported Single Crowns with a Minimum Follow-Up Time of 3 Years; Survival and Complications: A Systematic Literature Review. Biomed J Sci & Tech Res 1(7)-2017. BJSTR. MS.ID.000563. DOI : 10.26717/BJSTR.2017.01.000563
- (28) Ram HK, Shah RJ, Agrawal HS. Evaluation of three different tooth preparation techniques for metal ceramic crowns by comparing preparation depths: An in vitro study. Journal of Indian Prosthodontic Society. 2015 Apr-Jun;15(2):162-7. doi: 10.4103/0972-4052.159961. PMID: 26929505; PMCID: PMC4762304.
- (29) Fahl, Newton, Jr. et al. Monolithic Vs. Layered Restorations: Considerations for Achieving the Optimum Result. Compendium. 35(2). February, 2014. https://www.aegisdentalnetwork.com/cced/2014/02/monolithic-vs-layered-restorationsconsiderations-for-achieving-the-optimum-result